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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION  

 

Appellant New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. and Cross-Appellant City of Greenlawn, New 

Union both seek review of the order of the United States District Court for the District of New 

Union issued May 15, 2019. Record at 1–2. The district court had subject matter jurisdiction to 

hear the case pursuant to the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544 (2010). This 

Court has proper jurisdiction to hear appeals from any final decision of the district court under 28 

U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL  

 

I.  Whether Greenlawn has the right, as a riparian landowner, to continue water withdrawals 

for municipal purposes at its normal rates during a drought. 

 

II.  Whether ACOE’s increased water releases to the Bypass Reach during a drought warning 

constitutes a non-discretionary action, thus exempting it from the consultation 

requirement within Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act. 

 

III. Whether Greenlawn’s withdrawal of 95% of the drought-reduced flow from the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works which reduced the downstream mussel habitat to stagnant pools and 

narrow trickles constitutes a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel in violation of 

Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act. 

 

IV. Whether courts must balance the equities before enjoining a beneficial municipal activity, 

pursuant to traditional laws of remedies, where the activity threatens the existence of an 

endangered species. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE  

 

In 2017, New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. (“NUO”) filed a claim against United States Army 

Corps of Engineers’ (“ACOE”) and the City of Greenlawn (“Greenlawn”), alleging that ACOE’s 

curtailment of hydroelectric power releases and Greenlawn’s water withdrawals violated the 

Endangered Species Act. R. at 10. NUO also asserted its common law riparian rights against 

Greenlawn. R. at 10. ACOE moved for summary judgment to dismiss the ESA claims against it 

and filed a crossclaim against Greenlawn, joining NUO’s ESA claim against Greenlawn. R. at 4. 
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NUO moved for summary judgment on its ESA claims against Greenlawn and ACOE. R. at 4. 

Greenlawn cross-moved for summary judgment seeking a declaration of its right as a riparian 

landowner and dismissal of the ESA claims against it. R. at 4. The district court granted ACOE’s 

motion dismissing the ESA claims against it, granted Greenlawn’s motion for summary 

judgment declaring it riparian right to continued flows in the Bypass Reach, and granted NUO’s 

and ACOE’s motion for summary judgment declaring Greenlawn to be in violation of the ESA. 

R. at 4–5. Greenlawn and NUO both filed a timely Notice of Appeal. R. at 1.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 

 This dispute arises from NUO’s allegations that the ACOE’s operation of the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works and Greenlawn’s water withdrawals from the Green River violated the 

Endangered Species Act (ESA). R. at 4. 

 In 1948, ACOE completed the Green River Diversion Dam and the Howard Runnet Dam 

(collectively referred to as the “Howard Runnet Dam Works”), creating the Green River Bypass 

Reach (“Bypass Reach”). R. at 5. Greenlawn, located on the banks of the Bypass Reach, owns 

the riverfront on both on both sides of the Bypass Reach within the city limits and has 

maintained municipal water takes from the Bypass Reach since the city was founded. R. at 5; See 

also Appendix A. 

 The dam was initially authorized for flood control, hydroelectric control, and recreation 

purposes, but was later expanded to include fish and wildlife purposes by subsequent legislation. 

R. at 6. The design of the dam and the Howard Runnet Lake impoundment would cut off the 

natural flow to the Bypass Reach and the Greenlawn water supply. R. at 6. Because of this, 

ACOE and Greenlawn formed an agreement to maintain flows in the Bypass Reach sufficient to 
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allow Greenlawn to continue water withdrawals “in such quantities and at such rates and times as 

it is entitled to as a riparian property owner under the laws of the State of New Union.” R. at 6.  

After a housing construction boom in 1968, Greenlawn enlarged its municipal water system. 

R. at 5. Their withdrawals now average 6 million gallons per day (MGD) annually, but peak to 

20 MGD during July and August. R. at 6. A Water Control Manual (WCM) governs ACOE’s 

operation of the Howard Runnet Dam. R. at 6. The WCM provides different target lake 

elevations at various times of the year based on historical flows and water demands. R. at 7. As 

long as the target lake elevations are maintained, excess natural inflow is released downstream 

through the Bypass Reach, the hydroelectric generation turbine, and the Howard Runnet Dam. R. 

at 6. The WCM provides that during normal summer operation, a flow of 50 cubic feet per 

second (CFS) will be released from the Diversion Dam into the Bypass Reach, flows of up to 

200 CFS are provided to the hydroelectric turbine as needed, and recreational flow releases of 

200 CFS are provided on Saturday mornings. R. at 7. When lake levels drop below the seasonal 

target levels, the WCM provides for downstream releases to be curtailed in accordance with the 

following lake level zones:  

1) Zone 1 (Drought Watch) – All recreational releases curtailed; minimum flow of 

at least 50 CFS shall be maintained in the Green River at the confluence of the 

Howard Runnet Dam tailrace and the Bypass Reach for fish and wildlife 

purposes; flow of 50 CFS shall be maintained into the Bypass Reach from the 

Diversion Dam; daily hydroelectric power releases of up to 200 CFS for up to 

three hours per day shall be maintained.  

 

2) Zone 2 (Drought Warning) – All recreational releases curtailed; Bypass Reach 

flow from the Diversion Dam reduced to 7 CFS; daily hydroelectric power 

releases of up to 200 CFS for up to three hours per day shall be maintained. 

  

3) Zone 3 (Drought Emergency) – All recreational releases curtailed; flow of 7 

CFS shall be maintained into the Bypass Reach from the Diversion Dam; daily 

hydroelectric power releases curtailed.  
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R. at 7. When the WCM was adopted, there were practically no consumptive uses of water in the 

Green River watershed upstream of Howard Runnet Lake. R. at 8. From 1968 to the end of the 

20th century, water shortages were not an issue. R. at 8. Drought conditions became more 

frequent in the 21st century, and Zone 1 conditions occurred during 2006-2007, 2008, 2009-10, 

and 2012. R. at 8. Zone 1 Levels were reached again in the Fall of 2016. R. at 8. These drought 

conditions persisted into the Spring of 2017 when lake levels reached Zone 2 conditions, and 

ACOE instituted flow restrictions in the Bypass Reach, as provided by the WCM. R. at 8. 

 Greenlawn immediately protested the 7 CFS flow restriction in a letter addressed to the 

ACOE Field Office, dated April 12, 2017. R. at 8. The District Commander responded with a 

request that Greenlawn institute drought restrictions on its water consumers. R. at 8. Greenlawn 

responded with a letter asserting their common law rights as a riparian landowner to make 

reasonable use of the historic flows of the Bypass Reach, and that it was under no obligation to 

impose restrictions. R. at 8. The District Commander yielded to the pressure from Greenlawn 

and ordered the Dam Works operator to increase the water releases from 7 CFS to 30 CFS. R. at 

9. As a result, the lake level lowered to Zone 3. R. at 9. Pursuant to the Zone 3 guidelines, the 

District Engineer ordered curtailment of hydroelectric power releases from the Howard Runnet 

Dam but continued the 30 CFS flows to the Bypass Reach. R. at 9.  

 The curtailment of hydroelectric power releases, combined with Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals, had severe effects downstream. R. at 9. Greenlawn’s withdrawals consumed almost 

all of the flows in the Bypass Reach. R. at 9. Additionally, after the curtailment of hydroelectric 

peaking, average downstream flow rates in a 24-hour period dropped from 25 CFS to almost 

zero. R. at 9. What was once a flowing river habitat with stretches of sand and bedded gravel was 

now stagnant pools of water and narrow trickles. The reduced water levels exposed several beds 
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of oval pigtoe mussels, a federally listed endangered species. R. at 9. Stagnant waters cause 

increased siltation, smothering mussel populations, and eliminating their necessary habitat. R. at 

9. Extremely low water levels prevent the migration of sailfin shiners, which larval mussels must 

attach themselves to in order to mature. R. at 9. Although adult oval pigtoe mussels can adapt to 

minor changes in water levels, the severely reduced flows in the Spring of 2017 essentially 

eliminated any opportunity for the mussels to adapt. R. at 9.  

NUO’s expert testified that these conditions resulted in the death of approximately 25% of 

the Green River oval pigtoe population. R. at 10. If conditions were to persist, the entire Green 

River oval pigtoe mussel population would be eliminated. R. at 10. According to NUO’s expert 

testimony, a minimum flow of 25 CFS averaged over 24 hours is necessary to prevent extirpation 

of the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population. R. at 10. 

 NUO is a not-for-profit membership association representing the interests of oyster 

fishermen of Green Bay. R. at 10. Because of the smaller oyster harvest, members of NUO 

experienced declining incomes and reduced catches. R. at 10. No members of NUO are 

waterfront property owners of Green Bay or Green River. R. at 10. Before NUO filed this action, 

heavy rains fell in the Green River watershed, filling Howard Runnet Lake back to Zone 1 levels, 

and allowing resumption of flows for fish and wildlife purposes. R. at 11. Thus, eliminating the 

immediate threat to the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population. R. at 11. However, all parties 

agree that Drought Warning conditions will occur again in the future. R. at 11. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW  

 

The district court rendered summary judgment in this case. Summary judgment is 

appropriate where, based on the admissible evidence submitted by the parties, there is no genuine 

dispute of material fact, and a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56. 
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An appellate court reviews the grant of summary judgment de novo, applying the same legal 

standard as a district court. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557 (1988).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

The district court correctly granted Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment on its 

crossclaim declaring riparian landowner rights. The district court also correctly granted 

the ACOE’s motion for summary judgment to dismiss the ESA claims against it. Finally, the 

district court correctly granted NUO’s motion for summary judgment declaring Greenlawn in 

violation of the ESA. And in the future, courts should balance the equities when enjoining a 

beneficial municipal activity, even if continuing the activity poses a risk of harm to an 

endangered or threatened species.   

First, the City of Greenlawn has the right, as a riparian landowner, to continue water 

withdrawals from the Bypass Reach for municipal purposes. Under the common law riparian 

rights doctrine, Greenlawn is entitled to sufficient flow from the Bypass Reach to supply its 

municipal needs, so long as its use does not unreasonably interfere with the reasonable use of 

another riparian landowner. NUO is not a riparian landowner and therefore lacks standing to 

assert any riparian rights against Greenlawn.  

Second, ACOE’s operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works during the 2017 drought warning 

to provide flow to Greenlawn is a non-discretionary action, so it is not subject to the consultation 

requirement under Section 7 of the ESA. Section 7 of the ESA requires federal agencies to 

consult with the appropriate wildlife agency before taking any action that may negatively affect 

endangered species or habitats. The consultation requirement only applies to discretionary 

actions. ACOE’s release of 30 CFS to the Bypass Reach during drought conditions was a non-

discretionary action because it was required by law. Greenlawn’s riparian rights and the 
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agreement between Greenlawn and ACOE compelled ACOE’s actions. Because ACOE’s action 

was non-discretionary, the consultation requirement under Section 7 of the ESA does not apply. 

Thus, ACOE had no obligation to consult with FWS regarding its operation of the 

Howard Runnet Dam Works, and ACOE’s failure to do so does not constitute a violation of 

Section 7 of the ESA. Since the law required ACOE to honor the agreement with 

the city, Greenlawn continued to deplete the flow of water in the river.  

Third, the City of Greenlawn’s withdrawal of roughly 95% of the water flow from the 

Howard Runnet Dam Works was a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussels. Section 9 of 

the ESA lists a number of activities which may be a “take,” one being when an activity harms an 

endangered or threatened species. A “harm” is anything which actually kills or injures members 

of an endangered species. Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s Decision in Babbitt v. Sweet Home, 

an activity may indirectly result in a harm to an endangered species and still constitute a 

prohibited take. Several lower courts have gone one step further and held that state regulatory 

activity which indirectly harms an endangered species’ habitats may amount to a prohibited 

“take.” Here, the City’s water consumption reduced the Green River to barely a trickle and even 

stagnant pools in some areas downstream. The water level was so low that even adult 

oval pigtoe mussels, which can usually navigate out of shallow water to a better habitat, were 

stuck and died.  

The City’s water consumption proximately caused the harm to the Green River mussel 

population. Greenlawn’s almost total consumption of the reduced water flow smothered the 

oval pigtoe mussels and prevented their host fish from migrating downstream to the mussels’ 

habitat. This injury was a foreseeable result of Greenlawn’s actions, and the existence of other 

habitat modifiers cannot absolve Greenlawn of liability.  
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Finally, in examining whether courts must balance the equities, remedies law commands 

that courts must balance the equities and hardships in deciding whether to award an equitable 

remedy. While the Supreme Court over forty years ago dispensed with this principle when an 

endangered species was at risk given the broad purpose of the ESA, Congress responded almost 

immediately by amending the ESA. Because an amendment has the same force and effect as a 

law, it must be followed. Therefore, courts must balance the equities, even if there is a potential 

harm to a threatened or endangered species  

ARGUMENT 

 

I.  Greenlawn has the right to continue water withdrawals for municipal purposes 

during a drought without any conservation measures.  

 

 Common law riparian rights doctrine recognizes the right of landowners abutting a 

watercourse to withdraw water to make reasonable use of said water so long as that use does not 

unreasonably interfere with another riparian landowners’ use. See generally Barton Thompson 

Jr. et al., Legal Control of Water Resources, 32, 33 (6th Ed. 2018). Every riparian landowner on 

a watercourse has “an equal right to the use of the water which flows” adjacent to their land. 

Hendrick v. Cook, 4 Ga. 241, 255 (1848). Landowners have a right to the use of the flowing 

water, but they have no property in the water itself. Id.; Tyler v. Wilkinson, 24 F. Cas. 472, 474 

(C.C.R.I. 1827). Further, no riparian landowner has rights greater than any other riparian owner. 

Id. 

The State of New Union applies common law riparian rights doctrine to the resolution of 

competing claims to water. R. at 12. New Union follows the minority rule which recognizes a 

municipality as a riparian landowner with the right to withdraw water as a supply to the benefit 

of non-riparian parcels within the municipality. R. at 12; see also Portage Cty. Bd. of Comm’rs v. 

City of Akron, 2006-Ohio-954, ¶ 57, 109 Ohio St. 3d 106, 117-18, 846 N.E.2d 478, 490-91, 
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(discussing its holding in Canton v. Shock, 66 Ohio St. 19, 63 N.E. 600 (1902), that, a 

municipality owning land along a river may exercise their riparian rights for the benefit of non-

riparian landowners by withdrawing water for the use of its citizens). Thus, Greenlawn has the 

right as a riparian landowner to withdraw water from the Bypass Reach for the benefit of the 

entire municipality. 

A. Greenlawn is entitled to sufficient flow in the Bypass Reach to supply its municipal 

water needs. 

 

New Union has not adopted legislation or precedent to resolve competing riparian claims to 

water, therefore this analysis must rely on authoritative treatises and precedent from other 

riparian rights jurisdiction. R. at 12. Consumptive rights under the riparian system are divided 

into two doctrines, the natural flow doctrine and the reasonable use doctrine. See generally 

Harrell v. Conway, 224 Ark. 100, 103, 271 S.W.2d 924, 926 (1954). American courts apply the 

doctrine of reasonable use which entitles each riparian landowner to make reasonable use of a 

watercourse for “domestic, agricultural, and manufacturing purposes” so long as these uses do 

not interfere with reasonable use of other riparian landowners. R. at 12; Hendrick, 4 Ga. at 256 

(1848); see also Harrell, 271 S.W.2d at 926 (1954).  

When evaluating riparian landowner uses, courts have drawn a distinction between uses to 

meet “natural wants” and “artificial uses.” Evans v. Merriweather, 4 Ill. 491, 495 (1842).  

Greenlawn uses water withdrawn from the Bypass Reach to satisfy the daily needs of its 

residents as well has watering lawns and ornamental plantings. R. at 13. Domestic use is 

considered a “natural use” allowed to riparian owners without regard to the impact on other 

riparian landowners. See Harris v. Brooks, 225 Ark. 436, 283 S.W.2d 129 (1955); see generally 

Robert E. Beck, Waters and Water Rights § 7.02(d)(2) (1991 & Supp. 1999). This principle 

applies to Greenlawn’s modern domestic uses and Greenlawn is allowed to make these 
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withdrawals regardless of how they impact ACOE. R. at 13; see generally Harris, 283 S.W.2d at 

134 (1955); see also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 850A cmt.j (1979) (“A person using water 

for domestic supply has a legal preference and need not reduce his use to accommodate persons 

using the water for other purposes.”). 

NUO advances an argument which completely contradicts long established riparian rights 

law. R. at 13. NUO incorrectly argues that Greenlawn has no right to withdraw more than its 

yearly average amount of water use and that Greenlawn must “share the shortage” with ACOE 

during periods of reduced flow. R. at 13. As discussed above, Greenlawn is allowed to continue 

its withdrawals regardless of their impact on ACOE’s use. Harris, 225 Ark. at 444 (“The right to 

use water for strictly domestic purposes…is superior to many other uses of water…”). In 

addition, Greenlawn’s municipal use of the Bypass Reach was long established by the time 

ACOE constructed its upstream diversion. R. at 13. While the protection of existing values of 

water use is not determinative, it is added factor tipping the scales in Greenlawn’s favor. See 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 850A(h) (1977). Accordingly, ACOE’s power generation use 

must yield Greenlawn’s domestic water demands.  

B. NUO does not have common law standing to assert riparian rights claims against 

Greenlawn. 

 

In a final attempt to restrict Greenlawn’s water consumption, NUO asserts its own riparian 

rights despite the fact that neither NUO nor any of its members claims to own property abutting 

the Green River. R. at 13. Common law riparian rights belong to landowners with property 

abutting a watercourse. See generally, Thompson, at 32-33. The riparian rights doctrine is only 

concerned with adjusting competing claims between riparian landowners and NUO has failed to 

meet this requirement. See id., at 28. NUO is not a riparian landowner and therefore lacks 

common law standing to assert any riparian rights claims against Greenlawn. See generally, 
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Restatement (Second) of Torts § 856(1) (1979) (“a riparian proprietor is not subject to liability 

for making a use of the water of a watercourse or lake that causes harm to use of water by a 

nonriparian.”). Here, ACOE is the only other riparian landowner whose rights could limit 

Greenlawn’s use. R. at 12. 

If this court were to conduct a reasonableness analysis of Greenlawn and NUO, the limit 

NUO attempts to place on Greenlawn’s withdrawals still would not accurately represent 

reasonable use. The Restatement (Second) of Torts considers the reasonableness of riparian use 

as a relative concept requiring a comparison of all uses against each other in relation to a number 

of objective and subjective factors. § 850A (1979). Average annual flow rates are just one factor 

to consider when determining reasonable use. They are not determinative of reasonable use as 

NUO would like this court to believe. See id. Greenlawn’s withdrawals must be considered along 

with factors such as the season of year, and the necessity and importance of the use to society. 

Richard C. Ausness, Water use Permits in a Riparian State: Problems and Proposals, 66 Ky. 

L.J. 191, 200 (1978); see also 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). Therefore, Greenlawn’s 

withdrawals of 20 MGD during summer months which bring increased residential water 

demands is not considered an unreasonable use on the riparian doctrine and should not be 

limited. 

During times of water shortage, riparian law ensures that water is allocated equally among 

all riparian uses. ACOE has not asserted its riparian rights. R. at 12. NUO does not own property 

along the Green River, and therefore does not have any riparian rights to assert. As a result, there 

are no other riparian landowners in this dispute by which the reasonableness of Greenlawn’s use 

must be measured. See generally Restatement (2nd) of Torts § 850 cmt. 2 (1977); see also City 
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of Waterbury v. Town of Wash., 260 Conn. 506, 800 A.2d at 1150. This court should affirm the 

lower court’s decision allowing Greenlawn to continue reasonable water withdrawals. 

II.  ACOE had no obligation to consult with FWS regarding the operation of Howard 

Runnet Dam Works due to its lack of discretion.  

 

The Endangered Species Act (the “ESA”) was enacted in 1973 to prevent the extinction of 

various species and their habitats. The ESA requires federal agencies to consult with the 

appropriate wildlife agency before taking any action that may negatively affect endangered 

species or habitats. The Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) is the appropriate wildlife agency in 

this case. Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, which contains the consultation requirements, provides as 

follows: 

Each Federal agency shall, in consultation with and with the assistance of the 

Secretary, insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by such agency 

(hereinafter in this section referred to as an “agency action”) is not likely to 

jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or threatened species 

or result in the destruction or adverse modification of habitat of such species… 

 

ESA § 7(a)(2), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). The consultation process includes preparation of a 

biological assessment, which determines the likelihood of a proposed agency action affecting an 

endangered species. 50 C.F.R. § 402.12. If the action is likely to jeopardize the continued 

existence of the species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat, the 

consulting agency must determine whether any “reasonable and prudent alternatives” exist for 

the action which would not violate Section 7(a)(2). 50 C.F.R. § 402.14. 

Even if ACOE took action that jeopardized the continued existence of the endangered oval 

pigtoe mussel, such action does not implicate ESA § 7(a)(2) because it was non-discretionary. 

The consultation requirement does not apply to non-discretionary actions, and ACOE’s legal 

obligations precluded its discretion in increasing the water releases to the Bypass Reach during 

the 2017 drought warning. Therefore, ACOE did not need to comply with the ESA by consulting 
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with FWS prior to its release of 30 CFS to the Bypass Reach in 2017. Because ACOE’s failure to 

consult with FWS does not constitute a violation of the ESA, the district court correctly granted 

ACOE’s motion for summary judgment to dismiss the ESA claims against it. 

A. A federal agency’s consultation obligations under Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA extend 

only to discretionary actions. 

 

Section 7 of the ESA, including its requirements to consult and avoid “jeopardy,” only 

applies to actions “in which there is discretionary Federal involvement or control.” Nat’l Ass’n of 

Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644, 646 (2007) (quoting 50 C.F.R. § 402.03). 

In Home Builders, the Court addressed an apparent conflict between mandatory provisions of the 

Clean Water Act and the ESA. Section 402(b) of the Clean Water Act provides that the 

Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) shall approve transfer of permitting authority under 

the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System to a state upon application and a showing 

that the state has met nine specified criteria. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b). Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA 

requires federal agencies to consult with other designated agencies to ensure that a proposed 

agency action is unlikely to jeopardize an endangered or threatened species. 16 U.S.C. § 

1536(a)(2). Thus, the case presented a question as to whether the EPA, in reviewing an 

application for the transfer of permitting authority which met the nine specified criteria, must 

also consult with designated agencies regarding the transfer’s effect on endangered and 

threatened species. 

The Court held that ESA § 7(a)(2) did not apply to the EPA’s authorization of permitting 

authority to the state of Arizona under the Clean Water Act because the authorization was not a 

discretionary act of the agency. Id. at 666–67. The relevant provision of the Clean Water Act 

required the EPA to make the authorization once the nine statutory criteria contained in 33 

U.S.C. § 1342(b) had been met, none of which related to compliance with the ESA. Id. at 661. 
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Because the EPA’s discretion was limited to determining whether the nine criteria were satisfied, 

the agency’s decision-making process did not trigger ESA § 7(a)(2)’s consultation and no-

jeopardy requirements. Id. at 673. This holding significantly narrowed the application of ESA § 

7(a)(2) to only those actions where a federal agency exercises discretion. 

Even before Home Builders, courts repeatedly held that an agency is not required to consult, 

or to avoid “jeopardy,” on actions over which it has no discretion. The Ninth Circuit held that a 

federal agency was not required to reinitiate consultation on an accidental take permit to 

determine its effects on a species that was listed after the permit was issued because the agency 

had not “retained discretionary control” over that permit. Environmental Protection Information 

Center v. Simpson Timber Co., 255 F.3d 1073, 1083 (9th Cir. 2001). The Ninth Circuit also held 

that ESA § 7(a)(2) did not apply to a right-of-way agreement that was “finalized before passage 

of the ESA,” and where the agency “currently lacks the discretion to influence the private 

activity for the benefit of the protected species.” Sierra Club v. Babbitt, 65 F.3d 1502, 1512 (9th 

Cir. 1995). The court reasoned that consultation would be a “meaningless exercise” if the agency 

lacks the power to implement changes that would benefit endangered species. Id. at 509. As 

shown below, providing flow to Greenlawn is not a “discretionary” agency action for the 

purposes of the ESA. Thus, ACOE’s lack of discretion in the operation of Howard Runnet Dam 

renders consultation a meaningless exercise in this case.  

B. ACOE’s increased water releases to the Bypass Reach during a drought warning 

constitutes a non-discretionary action. 

 

Any action that the law requires an agency to take is a non-discretionary action. The 

consultation requirement within Section 7 of the EPA does not apply to non-discretionary 

actions. ACOE had a legal obligation to increase water releases to the Bypass Reach during the 
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2017 drought warning. Thus, ACOE’s operation of the Howard Runnet Dam is a non-

discretionary action that is not subject to the consultation requirement. 

1. Greenlawn’s riparian rights deprive ACOE of discretion in the operation 

of Howard Runnet Dam Works. 

 

The State of New Union applies common law riparian rights principles in resolving disputes 

between riparian landowners. Record at 12. Under these principles, Greenlawn, as a riparian 

landowner, has the right to continue water withdrawals for municipal purposes during a drought 

without any water conservation measures. See Tubbs v. Potts, 45 N.U. 999 (1909) (citing Canton 

v. Shock, 66 Ohio St. 19, 63 N.E. 600 (1902)). The district court correctly declared that 

Greenlawn is entitled to sufficient flow in the Bypass Reach to supply its municipal water needs. 

Thus, when Greenlawn asserted its right as a riparian landowner to make reasonable use of the 

flows of the Green River Bypass Reach, ACOE was legally obligated to comply. Riparian rights 

law mandates that ACOE recognize Greenlawn’s rights as a riparian landowner, which ACOE 

did. Because ACOE was unable to exercise discretion when it released 30 CFS to the Bypass 

Reach during the 2017 drought warning, this is not a discretionary action that would be subject 

to the consultation requirement under ESA § 7(a)(2). 

The fact that the law requiring ACOE to take action is common law, rather than statutory, is 

of no consequence. Courts have typically held that any action taken by an agency is non-

discretionary when the agency is required to take such action by statute. See Home Builders, 551 

U.S. at 667. The same reasoning also applies when the law requiring an agency to action is 

common law. Riparian rights, like the Clean Water Act in Home Builders, are in conflict with the 

consultation obligation of the ESA. The riparian rights law of New Union requires ACOE to 

continue providing flows to the Bypass Reach sufficient to meet Greenlawn’s municipal needs. 

This means that ACOE was required by law to release 30 CFS to the Bypass Reach during the 
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2017 drought warning. ACOE simply lacked the power to ensure that its action would not 

jeopardize endangered species. Because ACOE was powerless to implement changes that would 

benefit endangered species, such as imposing drought restrictions on Greenlawn’s water use, 

consultation with FWS would have been a meaningless exercise. There is no reason for ACOE to 

consult with FWS for an action that the riparian rights law of New Union requires it to take. 

2. ACOE’s agreement with Greenlawn deprives it of discretion in the 

operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works. 

 

ACOE is contractually bound to release sufficient flow in the Bypass Reach to supply 

Greenlawn’s municipal water needs. The WCM governs ACOE’s operation of the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works and states that ACOE will comply “with any water supply agreements 

entered into” by ACOE and “with the riparian rights of property owners established under New 

Union law.” R. at 7. ACOE entered into an agreement with Greenlawn that set forth the 

parameters for maintaining flow in the Bypass Reach. R. at 6. The agreement provided that 

ACOE would maintain flows sufficient to allow Greenlawn to continue water withdrawals, “in 

such quantities and at such rates and times as it is entitled to as a riparian property owner under 

the laws of the State of New Union.” R. at 6. The existence of a water supply agreement with 

Greenlawn further supports ACOE’s legal obligation to comply with Greenlawn’s request to 

make reasonable use of the flows of the Bypass Reach. Therefore, the WCM and ACOE’s 

agreement with Greenlawn strengthen the effect that common law riparian rights have in 

depriving ACOE of discretion in operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works. 

Whether ACOE could alter the terms of its agreement with Greenlawn is irrelevant. In 

Coalition for a Sustainable Delta v. Federal Emergency Management Agency, the court held that 

FEMA’s issuance of flood insurance was not subject to ESA § 7 consultation. 812 F.Supp.2d 

1089 (E.D. Cal. 2011). Once the minimum eligibility requirements are satisfied, FEMA is 
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required to issue flood insurance and retains no discretion to further modify the terms and 

conditions of the policies. Id. The fact that FEMA could hypothetically amend the conditions to 

add additional conditions for eligibility is irrelevant to resolution of this issue. Id. Thus, even if 

ACOE could amend the agreement to allow itself more discretion, its action would still not be 

subject to consultation under ESA § 7(a)(2). 

Greenlawn’s rights as a riparian landowner, as well as its agreement with ACOE, deprive 

ACOE of discretion in the operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works. ACOE was required by law 

to comply with Greenlawn’s request to make reasonable use of the flows of the Bypass Reach. 

Thus, ACOE did not violate Section 7 of the ESA by not consulting with FWS prior to releasing 

30 CFS to the Bypass Reach during drought conditions because this constitutes a non-

discretionary action that was not subject to the consultation requirement. This Court should 

affirm the district court’s grant of ACOE’s motion for summary judgment to dismiss the ESA 

claims against it. 

III.  Greenlawn committed a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussels in violation of 

Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act.  

 

The district court correctly granted NUO’s motion for summary judgment given that the 

City of Greenlawn’s withdrawal of roughly 95% of the water flow from the Howard Runnet 

Dam Works was a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussels. The ESA’s purpose is to 

provide a program for the conservation of endangered and threatened species. 16 U.S.C. § 

1531(b). To effectuate this mission, the ESA prohibits the “take” of a federally listed endangered 

species. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B). A “take” has several different meanings: “to harass, harm, 

pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such 

conduct.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). A Fish and Wildlife Services (FWS) regulation illuminated 

what would constitute a “harm” to an endangered species: “an act which actually kills or injures 
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wildlife. Such act may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually 

kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including 

breeding, feeding or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3.  

Here, the City of Greenlawn committed acts which led to significant modification of the 

oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat, killing off 25% of the Green River’s population and inhibiting the 

migration of the mussels’ host fish, preventing breeding. The district court’s order should be 

upheld. The City of Greenlawn’s water consumption was a prohibited “take” under Section 9 of 

the ESA because it modified the oval pigtoe mussel’s habitat, which actually killed or injured the 

mussels and therefore the “harm” regulation applies. Also, Greenlawn foreseeably, and therefore 

proximately, caused the injury to the Green River mussel population. 

A. Consuming 95% of the water flow reducing an endangered specie’s river habitat 

downstream to stagnant pools and narrow trickles is a prohibited “take” under the 

Endangered Species Act § 9. 

 

Greenlawn is guilty of a prohibited take because it modified the mussels’ habitat, and in 

doing so harmed the species. The ESA prohibits the “take” of a federally listed endangered 

species. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B). A “take” occurs when a person harasses, harms, pursues, 

hunts, shoots, wounds, kills, traps, captures, or collects, or to attempts to engage in such conduct. 

16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). Because of the broad nature of the ESA, FWS issued a regulation clarify 

the meaning of “harm” within the statutory definition: “an act which actually kills or injures 

wildlife. Such act may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually 

kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including 

breeding, feeding or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3. After issuing the regulation, there was 

immediate controversy over whether the “significant habitat modification” language was what 

the legislature meant by a “harm,” and so the Supreme Court ruled on the issue. Babbitt v. Sweet 
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Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Great Or., 515 U.S. 687 (1995). The Court’s holding in Sweet 

Home, along with other courts’ decisions about how a habitat modification may constitute a 

“take,” supports upholding the district court’s decision. 

1. The Supreme Court in Sweet Home upheld the Fishing and Wildlife 

Services’ regulation as reasonable and held that “harm” included 

indirect, as well as direct, habitat modifications. 

 

The initial question in Sweet Home was whether the Secretary of the Interior’s interpretation 

of Section 9 of ESA in 50 C.F.R. §17.3 exceeded his authority. Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 690. 

The Court determined that the ordinary meaning of “harm,” the Endangered Species Act’s broad 

purpose, and a Congressional amendment in 1982 all bolstered the Secretary’s position, and 

therefore it was reasonable. Id. at 697–704. The Court answered another question: the scope of a 

“harm.” Respondents’ argued that even if the Court upheld the regulation, “harm” must be 

limited in application only to actions taken to directly and willfully injure an endangered species. 

Id. at 697. The effect would be that only actions occurring within an endangered species’ habitat 

to injure the species would fall within the “harm” category of “take,” which is what Greenlawn 

tries to argue here. R. at 16. However, the Court squarely rejected this idea: “unless the statutory 

term ‘harm’ encompasses indirect as well as direct injuries, the word has no meaning that does 

not duplicate the meaning of other words that § 3 uses to define ‘take.’” Id. at 697–98. Therefore, 

habitat modifications which either directly or indirectly flow from a person’s actions may both 

amount to a “harm,” and thus a prohibited “take.” This holding undercuts any argument that a 

modifying act must occur within the habitat for the regulation to apply. So, Greenlawn’s 

activities upriver may qualify as a habitat modification.  

But, because the Court could not address every possible scenario in which an indirect habitat 

modification would rise to the level of a “take,” lower court decisions guide the inquiry of 
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whether a habitat modification actually harmed an endangered species. These decisions show 

Greenlawn is guilty of a prohibited take of the oval pigtoe mussel population in Green River. 

2. State regulatory activity which indirectly harms endangered species’ 

habitats may amount to a prohibited “take.” 

 

 The plain language of the ESA prohibits government agents from permitting or facilitating 

activities that cause a “take” of an endangered species. The ESA makes it unlawful for “any 

person” to “take” any threatened or endangered species within the United States and defines 

“person” as including states, state officers, and state agencies and departments. 16 U.S.C. § 

1538(a)(1)(B); 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13). Therefore, it is possible for the City of Greenlawn to 

commit a take within the meaning of the statute, and it did commit a take.  

A number of cases support upholding the district court’s decision that Greenlawn committed 

a prohibited take under Section 9. Courts have held, both before and after Sweet Home, that 

government agencies and officers may be liable under Section 9. Defs. of Wildlife v. Adm’r, 

E.P.A., 882 F.2d 1294 (8th Cir. 1989) (holding the EPA’s registration of a toxic pesticide which 

endangered species later ingested and died from was a take); Sierra Club v. Yeutter, 926 F.2d 

429 (5th Cir. 1991) (finding that where the government agency failed to follow its own manual, 

leading to an impairment of the red-cockaded woodpecker’s behavioral and sheltering patterns, 

amounted to a take); Strahan v. Coxe, 127 F.3d 155 (1st Cir. 1997) (concluding state-licensed 

commercial fishing operations that entangled and injured whales, while indirect, was still a take 

on the part of the state). Courts have found that government officers and agencies committed a 

take when their actions indirectly modified an endangered species’ habitat. Loggerhead Turtle v. 

Cty. Council of Volusia Cty., Fla., 148 F.3d 1231, 1246 (11th Cir. 1998) (deciding the county’s 

beach lighting ordinance during turtles’ nesting season had fatal effects and was therefore a 

take); Nat. Res. Def. Council v. Zinke, 347 F. Supp. 465 (E.D.Cal. 2018) (holding federal 
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agency’s water transfers could result in habitat modification and be a take because of increased 

water temperature downstream at salmon’s habitat which negatively impacts salmon eggs’ 

incubation). Given the parallels in the caselaw to the facts at hand, there is ample evidence to 

justify Greenlawn’s responsibility for the reduced mussel population downstream from the city.   

Greenlawn’s consumption of the water flow from the Howard Runnet Dam Works was a 

modification of the oval pigtoe mussel’s habitat. While within its rights as a riparian landowner, 

the city reduced a once flowing river to a bare trickle and mere pools of water. R. at 9. The 

stagnant water smothered the mussels and prevented their host fish from moving downstream. R. 

at 9. This habitat modification actually killed members of the endangered species. R. at 9–10. 

Thus, the City of Greenlawn harmed an endangered species and amounted to a “take” prohibited 

under the ESA.  

B. The City of Greenlawn’s water consumption was a cause of the Green River oval 

pigtoe mussel’s decreased population.  

 

In applying the take prohibition in Section 9, courts employ tort concepts of causation. 

Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 700 n.13 (“[T]he regulation merely implements the statute, and it is 

therefore subject to … ordinary requirements of proximate causation and foreseeability.”) 

(citations omitted). While the Sweet Home majority addressed causation concerns only briefly, 

Justice O’Connor’s concurrence commented more thoroughly on how proximate cause and 

foreseeability limited the ESA’s application.   

Justice O’Connor believed the FWS’ harm regulation applied where the habitat modification 

significantly impaired the essential behaviors listed in the regulation proximately, and therefore 

foreseeably, caused actual death or injury to members of an endangered species. Id. at 714. 

Pursuant to her interpretation, Justice O’Connor argued that the Ninth Circuit wrongly decided 

Palila v. Hawaii Department of Land and Natural Resources. Id. In Palila, the Ninth Circuit 
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held the government agency committed a “take” when it allowed feral sheep to roam through the 

endangered palila bird’s habitat, which prevented regeneration of trees therein. Palila v. Haw. 

Dep’t of Land and Nat. Res., 852 F.2d 1106, 1110 (9th Cir. 1988). Justice O’Connor posited that 

because the sheep’s presence “merely prevented the regeneration of forest land not currently 

sustaining actual birds,” the habitat modification did not proximately cause actual death or injury 

to the endangered birds and thus was not a take. Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 716. From this, we can 

glean that Justice O’Connor did not view a habitat modification which merely increased the risk 

of harm by making it more difficult to feed, breed, or shelter as a proximate cause, and therefore 

could not be a take under the ESA. 

Because the majority did not respond to Justice O’Connor’s concurrence, exactly how much 

habitat modification needed to impair essential behaviors to be a “take” was left open-ended. 

While the lower courts have come to different conclusions, under any of those varying standards, 

Greenlawn’s actions are a proximate cause of the harm to the Green River oval pigtoe mussel 

population.  

1. Greenlawn’s actions foreseeably harmed the mussel population. 

   

 After Sweet Home, lower courts have varying interpretations of the opinion, especially 

Justice O’Connor’s concurrence. Some courts hold that a habitat modification proximately 

causes death or injury if the modification makes it more difficult for members of the endangered 

species to engage in essential behaviors. Marbled Murrelet v. Babbitt, 83 F.3d 1060 (9th Cir. 

1996). While other courts refuse to call a habitat modification a “take” unless the modification 

actually prevents, feeding, breeding, or sheltering, rather than just making these behaviors more 

difficult to accomplish. Greenpeace Found. v. Mineta, 122 F.Supp.2d 1123 (D. Haw. Nov. 15, 

2000). No matter which approach this Court decides to align with, Greenlawn’s modification of 
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the oval pigtoe mussel’s habitat was a proximate cause of harm to the mussel population in 

Green River. 

If this Court chooses to follow the more liberal approach, the destruction of the mussels’ 

habitat and decreased population are foreseeable results of Greenlawn’s water consumption, and 

Greenlawn is a proximate cause of the harm to the mussels. In Marbled Murrelet, the dispute 

was over a proposed area of timber harvest where there were one-hundred detections of marbled 

murrelets, an endangered species, during the birds’ breeding season. Marbled Murrelet. at 1067. 

Experts testified that the lumber plan would likely harm the marbled murrelets by impairing their 

breeding and increasing the likelihood of predation. Id. at 1067–68. The district court issued an 

injunction on the basis that the lumbering plan was a harassment and harm to the birds and 

therefore a “take” in violation of the ESA. Id. at 1063. Notably, the timber plan had not killed 

nor injured any bird yet, given that it was merely a plan, and neither was there evidence to show 

the plan would actually inhibit breeding, feeding, or sheltering if it were to take effect. Yet, the 

Ninth Circuit affirmed the lower court’s ruling. Id. at 1068. Under this approach, it is clear that 

Greenlawn’s actions proximately caused a habitat modification. The reduced water flow left the 

mussels exposed and unable to move to a sustainable habitat, leading to their deaths. But even 

under a more conservative view of foreseeability, Greenlawn’s actions proximately caused the 

harm to the mussels. 

Greenlawn’s water consumption actually prevented essential behaviors from occurring, such 

that its actions were foreseeable causes of harm to the mussel population. In Greenpeace, the 

issue was whether National Marine Fisheries Service’s (NMFS) operation of a lobster fishery 

caused a take of the endangered monk seal which fed on lobsters. 122 F.Supp.2d at 1127. 

Lobster comprises a significant part of the monk seal’s diet. Id. at 1133–34. There was plenty of 
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evidence that the lessened lobster population in the seals’ habitat was harming the species: seals 

in the disputed area had to dive deeper and travel farther for food than their counterparts 

elsewhere, and the seals had to consume more cephalopods. Id. at 1133. Researchers 

hypothesized that decreased prey was a cause of the decline in reproduction, survival, and 

condition of immature seals. Id. But, the court denied Greenpeace's motion for summary 

judgment because the record failed to establish that lobster is “absolutely critical to the monk 

seal” and “it is not certain that lobster plays such an essential role in the monk seal diet that a 

reduction of lobster prey dooms the monk seal to extinction.” Id. at 1134. This court, and others 

like it, require definitive evidence that the habitat modification will actually prevent feeding, 

breeding, or sheltering rather than increase the difficulty of accomplishing these essential 

behaviors. Here, Greenlawn did actually prevent the oval pigtoe mussels from breeding. The oval 

pigtoe mussels require a healthy population of a particular host fish, the sailfin shiner, in order to 

spawn, as the larval mussels must attach themselves to the gills of the to mature. R. at 9. Low 

water levels not only smother the mussels, but also prevent the migration of sailfin shiners, 

thereby inhibiting breeding. R. at 9. Therefore, even under the higher standard for proximate 

cause and foreseeability, Greenlawn proximately caused the harm to the mussels.  

2. The existence of other habitat modifiers does not absolve Greenlawn 

of liability.   

  

Greenlawn’s water withdrawal is a cause in fact of the drastic change in the Green River 

mussels’ habitat. Under basic principles of tort law, multiple defendants may be a cause of an 

injury. Paroline v. United States, 572 U.S. 434, 451 (2014) (“Courts have departed from the but-

for standard where circumstances warrant, especially where the combined conduct of multiple 

wrongdoers produces a bad outcome.”). A strict theory of but-for causation does not lend itself to 

Section 9 determinations, especially when the habitat is water-based, where there are often 
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multiple diverters from the water source. Zinke, 347 F.Supp.3d 465, (E.D.Cal. 2018) (“The most 

appropriate conclusion here is that strict but-for causation cannot be required under the 

circumstances. Any other finding would exclude categorically from Section 9 liability any party 

whose conduct is individually insignificant, but is collectively significant, no matter how 

foreseeable…”). While there were drought conditions, it would be absurd to shift liability from 

the party consuming 95% of the water upstream to some other cause. United States v. Glenn-

Colusa Irr. Dist., 788 F.Supp. 1126 (E.D.Cal. 1992) (“The District’s argument that it may shift 

to the State all responsibility under federal law for any taking is at least brash…but also absurd 

for it is the pumping that creates the taking”). But-for the city’s water consumption, Green River 

could have maintained a moderate flow so as not to smother the mussels and allow the mussels’ 

host fish from getting downstream. Then no take of the endangered species would have occurred. 

IV.  Courts must balance the equities before enjoining a municipal activity, even when 

the activity threatens the preservation of an endangered species.   

 

A basic premise of the law of remedies is that because “all or almost all equitable remedies 

are discretionary, the balancing of equities and hardships is appropriate in almost any case as a 

guide to the chancellor's discretion.” D. Dobbs, Remedies 52 (1973). But, when confronted with 

whether this principle should apply when an endangered species is at risk, the Supreme Court 

seems to have rejected the application of the principle: “Congress has spoken in the plainest of 

words, making it abundantly clear that the balance has been struck in favor of affording 

endangered species the highest of priorities, thereby adopting a policy which it described as 

‘institutionalized caution.’ Tennessee Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 194 (1978). However, 

there was immediate backlash to Tennessee Valley, and in response Congress passed legislation 

amending ESA Section 7, the provision at issue in that case. Endangered Species Act of 1973, 

Pub. L. No. 93-205, 87 Stat. 884 (1973). The Court in Tennessee Valley invited the legislature to 
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respond, and Congress spoke. The swift and direct Congressional action that followed controls. 

Jones v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., 541 U.S. 369 (2004) (an amendment to an existing statute 

has the same force and effect as a stand-alone statute). Therefore, courts must balance the 

equities, even if there is a potential harm to a threatened or endangered species.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Army Corps of Engineers respectfully asks that this Court 

should affirm the decision of the district court.  
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